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MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Plaintiff Chelsea Gentralleges discrimination and retaliatiamder Title
VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, and under 42 U.S.C. § 1%8@instDefendant City of
Russellville, Alabama (Doc. 1, No.3:16-cv-01466 and Doc. 1, No. 3:4ck-
01127. Plaintiff also asserts a wage and hour claim under the Fair Labor
Standards Ac{FLSA), 29 U.S.C. § 207 (Doc. 1,No. 3:17-cv-01127%. This
matter is before th€ourt onDefendant’'smotion for ammary judgment. (Doc.
32). For the reasons set forth below, the Court shall dpafendants motion
. STANDARD FOR MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

“The court shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is
no genuine dispute as to any matefiaat and the movant is entitled to judgment as

a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). To demonstratethi@at is a genuine
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dispute as to a material fact that precludes summary judgment, a party ogposing
motion for summary judgment must cite “torfpaular parts of materials in the
record, including depositions, documents, electronically stored infamati
affidavits or declarations, stipulations (including those made for purpistee
motion only), admissions, interrogatory answers, or otheenmaés.” Fed. R. Civ.
P. 56(c)(1)(A).

When considering a defendant’s motion for summary judgment, a district
court must view the evidence in the record and draw reasonable igfgream
the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintifsalce v. First Class
Parking Sys. LLC898 F.3d 1136, 1138 (11th Cir. 2018). Accordingly, the Court
presents the facts in this opinion in the light most favorabRamtiff. See also
Feliciano v. City of Miami Beagtvy07 F.3d 1244, 1252 (11th Cir. 2013) (“[W]hen
conflicts arise between the facts evidenced by the parties, [courts] must credit the
nonmoving party’s version.”).“The court need consider only the cited materials,
but it may consider other materials irtlecord.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(3).
[I.  STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff began her employment with the Russellville Police Department
(RPD) in December2011, at the age of 21 (Doc. 281 at 12). Plaintiff has a
bachelor's degree in criminal justicéld. at 6). She attended the police academy

in Januan2012. (Id. at12).



Plaintiff worked as a pade officer during the first three years of her
employment (Id. at 12, 17). Between October 2012 to September 2013, the RPD
disciplined Plaintiffdue tosome problems, but on December 2, 24 RPD
gave Plaintiffa good annual review. (Doc.-d8at70-71; Doc. 284 at 11; Doc.
28-5at11-12; Doc. 3913).

In the summerof 2015, Defendant Civil Service Board(CSB) posted a
sergeantposition at the RPD (Doc. 281 at 17; Doc. 284 at 6). The RPD
instructed @ficers to signtheir name talist if they wereinteresedin applying for
the position (Doc. 284 at6). Plaintiff was the only officewho signedhe list
(Doc. 281 at 18). Despite reservatianbased on her prior work histgrChief
Hargett recommende@laintiff to theCSB for promotion. (Doc. 28 at6, 1011).

In August 2015, the CSB promot@&daintiff to sergeanindgave hera pay raise
(Doc. 3965; Doc. 287, 1 4). The CSB has a policy that newly promoted
employees are placed on a-smonth probation. (Do@8-1 at31-32, 72 Doc. 28

4 at 13;Doc.285 at22-23.*

Upon her promotionChief Hargett andCpt. Prince toldPlaintiff that RPD
would assignher to a field training officer and she wouldundergoa supervisor

field training program. (Doc28-1 at 1819). The RPD did not havea written

! Plaintiff testified that she wasld she would be placed on a eyear probation, instead of
six months which is not disputed by Chief Hargett and Cpt. Prin(f@oc. 281 at 3132,

72, Doc. 285 at 2223; Doc.28-4 at 13. Regardless, Plaintiff was demoted within two and
half months of being a sergeant. (Doc.128t 3132).



policy for a training program until October 29, 2015. (Doc424 16. Plaintiff
was the first participant in the progranid.(at 11). Over the course dPlaintiff’s
participation the RPD made changes to the prograwaoise the program was still
being developed(Doc. 281 at18; Doc. 287, 1 4).

Initially, the RPD pairedPlaintiff with Sgt.Miller. (Doc. 281 at 19) Sqit.
Miller evaluated Plaintiffstating that she failed to exhibit command presence,
failed to demonstrate an ability to control situations when responding to calls, had
difficulty organizing officersand distributing calls for service, appeared to lose
track of service calls and whereabouts of her officers, and appeared to be
unfamiliar with certain department policies aptbcedures. (Id. at 1920, 120).
Sgt. Miller also noted thaPlaintiff was not receptive to feedback, sleeps during
shifts, is insubordinate, and overall has leadership and professioaihesses.
(Id. at 12324). Subsequently, Sgfranks evaluad Plaintiff remarkng that
Plaintiff had displayed poor leadership skillpoor professionalism, poor
knowledge of general orders, and appeared to be sleeping in her pati(dd cair
121-22).

Plaintiff admitted to occasionallgleeping during a shift. (Id. at 2122).

Shealso testified that shejuestioned the qualifications of the training officers

2 Plaintiff was not giveran“Advance with GPSeven though she asked for one. (D28:1 at
33, 7).



assigned to her.(Id. at 2621). Plaintiff admitted defending or justifying her
actions when receiving criticisirom her supervisors(ld.).

Sgss. Miller and Franks recommended th&faintiff not continue as
sergeantDoc 281 at 121-24). On October 29, 2015, Chief Hargett demoted
Plaintiff to patrol officer &er reviewingher evaluations and speaking gys.
Miller and Franks an@€pt. Prince. (Doc. 24 at 27 Doc. 287, 1 5; Doc. 2& at
26; Doc. 3922).

At the time of Plaintiff's demotion Mickey Gentry, Plaintiff's husband,
served as a volunteer reserve officethat police department(Doc. 287, 1 9.
Since 2004Defendanthad also employeMr. Gentryas a firefighter (Doc. 28-3
at 16). Mr. Gentrywent toMayor Grissonto discusshis wife’s demotion. (Doc.
281 at 41 78). Among other thingaVir. Gentrytold themayorthat Chief Hargett
demoted PlaintiffbecausePlaintiff was not one of Chief Hargett*drinking

buddies.” (Doc. 283 at 9,23-26).

Chief Hargett removed Mr. Gentry from the reserve officer program and
told him not to come to the police station. (Doc-728] 9). Cpt. Prince told
Plaintiff that Mr. Gentry was not allowed at the pelistation. (Doc39-83,

recording)® After the RPD demoted Plaintiff, the RPD pladelintiff into the

® Plaintiff labeled this recording as PKL on the disc submitted to the Court, lintorrectly
labeled the recordings PX72 inherconventional filing. (Doc. 39-83).
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position ofa patrol officer. (Doc. 28 at 131). On November 1, 201%laintiff
appealed her demotion to the CSB. (&1 at 79;Doc. 3927). On November
4, 2015 Plaintiff filed acharge of discriminatiowith the EEOC (Doc. 28-1

at 80;Doc. 3928).*

On December 14 2015, Cpt. Prince reviewedPlaintiff's performance,
noting that her job knowledge was “average considering her géarperience,”
she does not take constructive criticism well or follow directions,shied‘tends
to maximize any opportunity to use her sick leav@bc. 3934). On Decenmdr
15, 2015,Lt. Shackelfordreviewed Plaintiff's performanceconfirming many of
Cpt. Prince’s statements. (Doc.-3%9). For examplelt. Shackelford stated that
Plaintiff was not dependable and that he “was in full supportPddintiff's]

removal [asergear]t and | still stand beside that decisior{ld.).

In lateJanuary 201&?laintiff informed Chief Hargett that she was pregnant
and requested that he kap information private. oc.28-1 at 83.

On March 5, 2016, during the night shift, Sgt. Franks obseRladhtiff
sitting in her patrol vehicle ithe police station parking lot(ld. at 13233). Sqgt.

Franks believedPlaintiff was sleemg and took a picture of her.(ld. at 134,

* On December 7, 201%laintiff wrote the City Council, requesting that she be reinstased
sergeant (Doc. 392 at 40; Doc. 3930; Doc. 3980 at28). At that time, Plaintiffstill held the
position ofsergeanbecauseghe City Council had not officialldgemoted her. (Doc. 399). On
December 7, 2015, the City Council demotelkhintiff. (Doc. 392 at 1, Doc. 39-33). On
December 11,2015, Plaintiff appealed theCSBs decision to demote her. (Doc. 3B at 1;
Doc. 3933). On March 8, 2016he CSB ruledPlaintiff did not have the right to appeal the
demotion. (Doc. 3% at3; Doc. 39-61).



photograph) Plaintiff testified that she was not asleep, boédoes not dispute
that SgtFranks believed she was asleélal. at22, 3536).

On March 7, 2016, Mr. Gentrgnd Plaintiffwent to the police station to
speak to Chief Hargett abo8gt. Franks. (Doc. 284 at 3637, 41). The RPD’s
General Order No. 100 (O.) provides thaemployees are required to follow the
chain commando reportdepartment related issueslessan employee hasa
complaint of sexual harassment. (Doc-R&t 13536, 141;Doc. 287, § 10).
Plaintiff testified that sh&vas notreportingsexual harassment. (Doc.-2&t40).

On March 10, 201&laintiff interviewed for anothesergeanposition. (Id.
at84). That same day;hief Hargett suspenddétiaintiff for five days without pay
for sleeping on duty and an additional five days without pay for bypassing the
chain of command.Doc. 3939).°

Plaintiff gave Chief Hargett a note from her doctor, dated March 21, 2016,
requesting that she be placed in thigcef preferably on aaly shift. (Doc. 333).
Chief Hargett requested clarification frdataintiff's physician as to the extent of
her medical limitationswvhich he received on April 1, 261(Doc. 282 at 35; Doc.

284 at 24,39, 42. The physician’s note stated tHalaintiff could not wear her

> On March 10, 2016, MsGentry requested an appeal ofstaction to the CSB. (Doc. 391).
On March 28, 2016the CSB notified ChielHargettandPlaintiff that her hearing as set for
April 14, 2016. (Doc. 396).



utility belt,® and she could not be on the strieetausef arisk of being hit in the
abdomen(Doc. 284 at 42).

On March 24, 2016Plaintiff filed a second chargef discriminationwith
the EEOC (Doc. 399 at8).

The RPDdid not have a “light duty” positianDoc. 281 at 88). Therefore,
the RPD placedPlaintiff on a medical leave and requiréer to use sick or
personal leavéo take time off (Doc. 281 at 88; Doc. 2&! at 39; Doc. 288 at 7).
Plaintiff could request leave donatiofiem other employees she exhausted her
own leavetime. (Doc. 288 at 7). Several Fire Departmer@mployees donated
sick leave time t®laintiff. (Doc. 281 at63). No RPDemployees donated time to
Plaintiff, despite her requests to RPD employees for donated (ichat 63.

During her medical leavehe RPD offeredPlaintiff dispatch shifts when
available so she would not hateeuseher ownleave timeor donatedeavetime.
(Doc. 281 at 4243; Doc. 284, at 40. On June 18, 2016yhile Plaintiff was
working a dispatch shifMr. Gentry came to the police station and went inside the
dispatch room witlPlaintiff. (Doc. 281 at 42-43). Lt. Shackelfordobservedhe
incident and reported it t&€pt. Prince. (Doc. 28 at 27 Doc. 285 at 19).

Plaintiff was suspended for 14 days without pay. (Do€l 2a84445).

® All patrol officers are required to wear a duty belt. (Doc428 40). The duty belt includes
the officer’s firearm, extra magazines, handcuffs, and other necetssasy (ld.).



In September 201 laintiff's child was born. I¢. at 6, 94. On October
12, 2016, the RPD disciplind@laintiff for taking her sick leave donation forms to
City Hall, rather than turning them to Chief Hargett. (Doc. 2& at45, 95 Doc.
39-52; Doc. 3953). On November 4, 2016Plaintiff filed a third charge of
discriminationwith the EEOC related to her demotion. (Doc83x12).

On November 7, 201&laintiff returnedto full-time duty. (Doc. 281 at
95). Plaintiff told Cpt. Prince that sheeededo pump breastmilk for her child.
(Id.). The RPD toldPlaintiff she could use the breakom or go home during
breaksto pump breast milk (Id. at50). Plaintiff chose to g home during her paid
breaks. (Id.). The RPDrequired Plaintiffto remain on duty while traveling home
until she went out oher servicearea at which time she was required to call or
text. (Id.).

The RPD instructedlaintiff to make up extra time at the end of her shift
because her breaks took longer than the allotted hadrPlaintiff sometimes
arrived atwork late (Doc. 284 at 30;Doc. 3955). On December 12and 27
2016,the RPD counseleBlaintiff and gave her awritten directiveregarding her
breaks butthe RPD did notlisciplineher. (Doc. 281 at 82, 96; Doc. 22 at 51;

Doc. 285 at 2122; Doc. 3955; Doc. 3956).



At somepoint, Plaintiff's physician instructetier to breastfeeder baby
instead of pumipg milk. (Doc. 28-1 at 49-5Q 97; Doc. 3984, recording.’
Plaintiff worked a 1zhour shift and needed three breastfeeding breaksh
wereabout 20minuteseach (Doc.39-84 recording.

Around this time a shooting occurred in Russellvill&labama, during
which the suspect was injured and required medical care. (DdcaR87?). The
RPD transported the suspect to Huntsville Hospital in Huntsville, Alabdbac.
284 at 32). The RPD scheduleBlaintiff to guard the suspect at the hospital
Huntsville. (1d.) Plaintiff raised concerns abohbteastfeedingvhile guarding the
suspect (Doc. 281 at 47). The RPDtold Plaintiff to takeher concerns up the
chain ofcommand, which she did(ld.). The RPDrearrangedhe schedule and
reassiged Plaintiff that day (Id.). The RPD scheduleBlaintiff for a night shift
thateveningin Russellville (Doc. 281 at 9799; Doc. 284 at 3334).

A few weeks laterCpt. Princemade a schedule change arehssigedsome
officers, includingPlaintiff to the night shift (Doc. 285 at 27 Doc. 281 at 46;
Doc. 30,Ex. L, recording). Plaintiff complained to helieutenantand then tcCpt.
Prince about the schedule change. (Doc. 30, Ex. L, record®@gj.Prince told
her it was a temporary assignment until the negrgeantgyained experience.

(Doc. 281 at 49; Doc. 30EXx. L, recording. Plaintiff submitted a written request

" Although the dates of certain events provided by the parties are undisputed, the Court was
unable to find evidence supporting the dates in the citations provided.
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to speakto the City Councilinstead of taking her complaints to Chief Hargett
(Doc. 281 at46, 52. Plaintiff did not tell anyone that she had requested to speak
to the City Council. (Id. at 52).

The City Council held a regulariyscheduled meetingand atPlaintiff’s
request, th€ity Council spoke to her in a private executive sess(@uc. 284 at
30). Plaintiff hoped theCity Council would “step in anglist tellmy supervisors to
back off alittle bit and just lemedomy job.” (Doc. 281 at 49. Plaintiff spoke to
the City Council abouthe assignment to guard tiseispect at Huntsville Hospital
(Id. at 4748). The City Council questioned Chief Hargett about this matter and
othersissueselated toPlaintiff. (Doc. 284 at 30). Based on the questions, Chief
Hargett understood th&taintiff had led the City Council to beliewkat the RPD
required Plaintiffto travel to Huraville to guard a suspectDoc. 284 at 30, 32,
34; Doc. 286 at 4). The next working daythe RPD placedPlaintiff on paid
administrative leave. (Doc. ZBat 55 Doc.28-4 at32, 39.

The following day, the RPD instructedPlaintiff to come to the station with
her police equipment. (Doc. 28at 56; Doc. 28! at 34). Plaintiff testified that
she thoughthe RPD would terminate her employmemd spoke to her father

who was with her at the timi@ Birmingham, about her anticipated termination

11



(Doc. 281 at 56. When Plaintiff arrived, Chief Hargett tolcher that she had
violated the chain of command and could resign or be terminated. (D&cat28
57-58;, Doc. 284 at 32, 35; Doc. 3979, recordiny Plaintiff opted to resign.
(Doc. 281 at 6061). Sheasked if sheshould go home to write her resignation
letter. (Id. at 58). Chief Hargett told her she could tise computethat was in
their room (Id.). She did not request additional time to consider her decision.
(1d.).

On April 27, 2017 Plaintiff filed athird charge of discrimination with the

EEOC. Doc.3959).

On September 6, 2018Jaintiff filed this lawsuit--- (Doc. 1, No. 3:16cv-
01466MHH),® --- and o July 4, 2017Plaintiff filed a second lawsuit- (Doc.
1, No. 3:17cv-01127ZAKK).*® On November 30, 2017, another judgetbis
Court consolidated thegevo casesunder casenumber3:16-cv-01466 (Doc.

21).1

8 With travel time and other errands, over two hours elapsed between thematie RPDand
Plaintiff arriving at the police station(Doc. 28-1 at 56).

® Count | alleges a hostile work environment and a discriminatory demotion in aip&ftiTitle
VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e. (Doc. 1, No. 3:£6-01466,11 1317).

2 Counts | and Il allege refation and discriminatory discharge, respectively, in violation of
Title VII. (Doc. 1,No. 3:1#cv-01127,91 14151). Count Ill alleges a violation ofie FLSA
related to breastfeeding her childd.( {1 15258). Counts IV and V allege disparate treatment
and a hostile work environment, respectively, in violation of 42 U.S.C. 8§ 188311 15969).

2 On October 26, 2018, this case was reassigned to the undeijsigged(Doc. 47).
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[11. ANALYSS
A. Retaliation Claim

Plaintiff dlegesthat Defendantetaliated against her in violation of Title
VII. (Doc. 1at 1821, f 14145, No. 3:17cv-01127)** The burdenshifting
analysis established by the Supreme CouMabonnell Douglas Corporation v.
Green 411 U.S. 792 (1973applies toPlaintiff's retaliation claim because she has
not put forth direct evidence of retaliation. UndécDonnell Douglas Plaintiff
first must establish a prima facie case of retaliatioh. If she is able to establish a
prima facie case of retaliation, then the burden shiftSdfendantto produce a
legitimate, nonretaliatory reason for the actiold. Once Defendantmeets its
burden, thenPlaintiff must show that the pif@red reason is a pretext for
retaliation. Furcron v. Mail Ctrs. Plus, LLC843 F.3d 1295, 1310 (11th Cir.
2016).

To establish a prima facie case for retaliation, a plaintiff must show that: (1)
she engaged in statutorily protected activity, (2) she suffered a mateudakyse
action, and (3) there was a causal connection between the protected actithity and
materially adverse actionHoward v. Walgreen Co605 F.3d 1239, 1244 (11th

Cir. 2010)

2 In her brief, Plantiff titles herargumentas “RETALIATION 42 USC 2000(e) AND 1983
(EP)” (Doc. 52 at 38). However, Plaintiff has not alleged a retaliation claim under 42 U.S.C. §
1983. GeeDoc. 1, Nos. 3:1%v-01127, 3:16:v-01466).
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As to the first elemenDefendantdoes not dispute thdlaintiff's filing of three
EEOC charges and two lawsuits constitute statutorily protected activity. (Doc. 50,
p. 35)!% Accordingly, the Court proceeds with its analysis of the other factors
under the burdeshifting framework.
Under the next prong of the prima facie caB&intiff alleges that she
suffered13 differentmaterially adverse actions

[1] [Plaintiff’s] husband was banned from the premises and taken out
of reserves[2] she was not given the right to appeal her demotion
contrary to policy[3] her coworkers were told not to associate with
her, [4] she was followed and verbally harassed and told she was
disgruntled and she needed to g[b{, she was written up on March

10, 2015 wherein she was docked 5 dgpay for sleeping and 5 more
days for her complaint of disparate treatment/harassment to the chief,
[ 6] her doctors excuse was refusefd, she was not donated hours

by anyone in her departmef] she was only given half of the hours
donated to helf9] she was written up for pump/breastfeeding breaks,
[10] she was written up and docked 14 dgay because her husband
came to the department to bring her lundi] she was written up

just three days later because her husband did not come to the
department to tn in forms,[12] she was not promoted fergeant
and[13] she was involuntarily terminated.

(Doc. 52at 3940) (citations omitted). With respect to these actions, the Court

consides each ofthe allegechdverse actionis turn.

13 Plaintiff not only asserts hdiling of EEOC charges and lawsuits as statutorily protected
activity, but she also asserts additional actstitutorily protected activity: Gentrys husband

went to the Mayor and threatened a lawsuit on October 29, 2015, Gentry wrote the Cigg Servi
Board alleging'discrimination and harassmérmdn November 1, 2015 . . Gentry wrote the

Civil Service Board alleging she wagender/sexually discriminated and harasdseg her
supervisors on December 11, 2015, [#dintiff] verbally complained to Chief of Sgt. Franks
harassment on March 7, 2016.” (Doc. 52 at 38) (citations omitted). Defendant does not contes
these additional acts of “statutorjyotected activity.” $eeDoc. 53).

14



1. Mr. Gentry’s kan from police statioand removal from reserves

Plaintiff argues that Mr. Gentry’s ban from the police station and removal
from officer reserves wasdécauseof [Mr. Gentry’s] discussion with the Mayor
threatenig a lawsuit.” (Doc. 52 at0). Defendant argument focuses dplaintiff
not having engaged in a statutorily protected activity yet because Mr. Gentry’s
accusations occurred “the very day [Plaintiff] was demote@@oc. 53 at 8).
However, Plaintiffsargument of a statutorily protected activity concelhs
Gentry’'s allegedhreat of a lawsuito the mayor.

First, Plaintiff cites a recordindgo support her statement that Mr. Gentry
threatened a lawsuit when talking to the may@eeDoc. 3383). However, this
recording does not support her assertion that Mr. Gentry actually threatened a
lawsuit. (Id.). Second Plaintiff generally citeso Thompson v. North American
Stainless LP, 562 U.S. 170 (2011yvithout any discussion.In Thompsonthe
defendant fired the plaintiff three weeks after his figno#ho was also an
employee of the defendant, filed an EEOC charge alleging sex discrimin@hen.
plaintiff in Thompsorthen filed an EEOC charge basatretaliation. Id. at 172.
Thefacts inThompsorareclearlydistinguishable from the facts in the instant case.
Thus, he Court finds that Plaintiff's reliance ofhompsonis misplaced and
Thompsonis inapplicable Accordingly, the Court finds that Plaintiff has not

established a prima facoase.

15



Assuming arguendo that Plaintiff could establish a prima facie case,
Defendanthas asserted legitimate, noretaliabry reason fowestricting access
l.e., Chief Hargetthad “discretion as police chief to restrict access to the police
station due to [Mr. Gentry’s] baseless accusation.” (DoatB3}

During Mr. Gentry’sconversation with Mayor Grissom, Mr. Gentry told the
mayor that one of the reasoR&intiff was demotedvas because she was noton
of Chief Hargett’s “drinking buddies.{Doc. 283 at 24)'* Chief Hargettattested
that“[w] hen [Mr.] Gentry told] Mayor David Grissom that | demotdds.
Gentry because she was not one of hdyinking buddies, | decided that
Mr. Gentry could no longer serve as a reserve officer and wasatodme
at the police station. | instructed him not to come down to the politersta
for any reason. | did not disciplif@aintiff in any wa for her husband
statements. (Doc. 287, 1 9). Plaintiff has notshown that her husband'®an
and removal from officer reserves wapratextfor retaliatingagainst hef®> Thus,

Defendant is entitled to summary judgment on this claim.

14 Mr. Gentry testifiedthat afer meeting with Mayor Grissom, Mr. Gentry accessed the
supervisor field training policy by virtue dfis position as a reserve officer. (Doc-2&t 23

24). Mr. Gentry then went back to Mayor Grissom a second time that same day to discuss t
policy. (d. at 24).

15t is undisputed that “[r]eserve officers are volunteers who serve at thegledishe police
chief.” (Doc. 287, 1 9).
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2. Right to @opeal demotion

Plaintiff assertsthat “she was not given the right to appeal her demotion
contrary to policy”(Doc. 52at 39), andthat “[a]Jny permanent employee, which
[she]was, can appeal disciplinary decisions, and demotion is disciplinfd. at
42-43). Defendantarguesthat pursuant to City poligyonly permanenti(e., not
probationary) employees are permitted to appeal demotan’Plaintiff was not
a permanent employegDoc. 53 at 9).In other words, Defendant argues that it
had a legitimate, nonretaliatory reason for not allowing Plaintiff to appeal her
demotion.

City policy grants a permanent employee “the right to appeal any
disciplinary action . . . .” (Doc. 398, Rule X— Rights of Review and Appéal
Plaintiff acknowledgs that she wason “promational probation”when she became
a sergeant(Doc. 281 at104). Thus, Plaintiff was not a permanent employee with
respect to the sergeant position. Defendant argues that Plaintiff “has presented no
evidenceto invalidate the City’s showing that she was not permitted to appeal her
demotion due to her probationary status.” (Doc. 53 atWith no other factual
support or authorityPlaintiff hasfailed toshow that that the City’s reason for not
allowing herto appeal her demotion was a pretext for retaliatidacordingly,

summary judgment is granted on this claim.
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3. Associating withco-workers

Plaintiff asserts thashe suffered an adverse action whérer coworkers
were told not to associate with her.” (Doc.&39). Plaintiff does not discuss the
action or provide any evidence in support therddaintiff testified that when she
and her husband had a conversation with Officer Brett Evans abbuturing
phone calls or texts, he responded that he f@d just to kind of keep my
distance from you, that- until all your stuff is over, | can’t really talk to you.”
(Doc. 281 at66). Mr. Gentry also testified that Officer Evans told himvwes “no
longer allowed to talk to usind that he did not want to lose his job. (Doc324
11)** However,Officer Evanddid not tellPlaintiff or her husbandho told him to
keep his distance(Doc. 281 at 67). Plaintiff doesnot demonstrate whatd her
co-workersnot toassociate with herPlaintiff fails to show an adverse action and
thus cannot establish a prima facie case. AccordinggCourtgrants summary
judgmenton this issue.

4., Harassing behavior

Plaintiff asserts that she suffered an adverse action shmewasfollowed”

and ‘verbally harassetl (Doc. 52at39). Specifically Plaintiff states;Supervisor

8 Mr. Gentry’s testimony recounts a number of text messages he senicer Gffans but went
unanswered, as well asFacebook message Mr. Gentry sent to Officer's Eeange, stating
“Congratulations to you, and thank you for not blocking me or staying friends with uscefOff
Evans] won't even talk to us now, after all . . . we’re the only ones that encouraged him . . . and
stuck up for him when everybody else in the department is talking badly of him. And now he’s
one of them.” (Doc. 28-3t13).

18



Franks told[her] she was disgruntled and needo quit!’ and when[she] told
[Officer] Shackelford she couldot watch an inmate and breastfeed, he told her
she needed to quit agdin(ld. at42). Plaintiff’'s only argument is that Sgt. Franks
and Lt. Shackelford were supervisors telling her to quit based on “gender based
issues.” (Doc. 52 at 42With no evidence or authoritlaintiff fails to establish
the elements of a prima facie caseddasn this single statement

Even if Plaintiff could establish a prima facie caBefendantassertshat
Sgt. Frankss actions inmonitoring Plaintiff's whereabouts and activitiesere
legitimate and nonretaliatoripecause his actions were consistent with his job
duties (Doc. 53 at 11). Sgt. Franks wasPlaintiff's supervisor and thus was
responsible for keeping track of her, as welbteerofficers under his supervision.
(Doc. 281 at 37). Plaintiff agreed that she had a GPS for that purposkad no
evidence of how much supervision was being given to other dfidéal. at 37
38). Plaintiff's questioning ohow Sgt. Franks codlbe doing his job properly if
he was constantly following her around does not establish pretext. (D&cat28
37). Plaintiff does not show that Defendant’s reas@sa pretext for retaliation.

Accordingly, summary judgmers granted on this claim.

17 Apparently, this comment was made Bgt. Franks after he took a picture Bfaintiff
allegedly asleep in her car while on duty. (Doc. 28-38).
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5. Docked payor sleeping and violating chain of command

a.  Sleeping incident

Plaintiff asserts that “she was written up on March 10, 20idterein she
was docked 5 days’ pay for sleeping” in her patrol car on March 5, 201&. 52
at 40, Doc. 3939). Defendant does not address whether the plaintiff has
established a prima facie case. Accordingly, for purposes of this motion, the Court
will assume that Plaintiff has satisfied her burdebefendant asserts it had a
legitimate,nonretaliatory reason for Plaintiff's discipline

The RPD’s Rule of Conduct 100, IV(C)(i)(d) states that “sleeping on duty”
Is considered a serious violatiorDac. 28-1 at 138). Plaintiff arguesthat she was
not asleep, but that Sgt. Franks “thought that | was sleepind.”at(35)!® This
statementoes noestablisithat Defendant’seasorfor disciplining Plaintiff was a
pretextfor retaliation SeeWilliams v. Fla. Atl. Univ.,728 F. App’x. 996, 999
(11th Cir. 2018)(holding that “[a]n employer who fires an employee under the

mistaken but honest impression that the employee violated a work rule is not liable

18 Sgt. Franks found Plaintiff sitting in her patrol car for a significant periodre th the RPD
paking lot. (Doc. 281 at 35). Plaintiff testified that she had been working on her computer and
laid her head back because she had a migraine. When Sgt. Franks saw, Riatatifk a picture

of her. (d. at 35, 134). Plaintiff agreed that in the picture her eyes were closed, her mouth is
slightly open, and her head is tilted bacld. &t 134). Furthermore, Plaintiftestified that during

her training, she did lay her head back &aidasleep “a few timesand that SgtMiller told her
sleeping in her patrol car was not permissibld. gt 21-22).
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for discriminatory conduc)’ (quoting Damon v. Fleming Supermarkets of Fla.
196 F.3d 1354, 1363, n.3 (11th Cir. 1999)

Plaintiff also arguesthat “the Chief made it cleafsleeping]is okay for
safety purposes and admittederyonedoes it” (Doc. 51at42)® The Plaintiff
offersa photograph of Lt. Shackelford sleeping inside the police station. (Doc. 39
18)2° Plaintiff does not discuss or provide the context of this photograph.
Furthermore, Plaintiff has failed to produce evidence of officers sleeping in their
patrol cars, as she waand Chief Hargett being aware of these inciden{See
Doc. 284 at 38). Plaintiff has not been able to show tlsfendant’s reason for
disciplining her in this instance waspmetext for retaliation. Thus, summary
judgment iggranted on this issue.

b.  Violating chain of command

Plaintiff asserts that she wasispeded without pay for five daydecause
she complained to Chief Hargettbout Sgt. Franks alleged harassment.
Defendantargues that Plaintiff ielated the chain of commandby taking her
complaints about Sgt. Franks straighttte Chief.Thus, Defendant asserts it had a

legitimate, nonretaliatory reason for suspending Plaintiffefendant des not

19 Plaintiff testified thatSgt. Miller explained to her that sleeping in her patrol car was
unacceptable. (Doc. 28-1 at 23).

2 There is a reference to a video, but it is actualigraen shot ainemail with an attachment
whichis not accessible(Doc. 3920).
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address whethePlaintiff has established a prima facie case. Accordingly, for
purposes of this motion, the Court will assume thiaingff has satisfied her
burdenand will now determine whether Defendant had a legitimate, nonretaliatory
reason for suspending Plaintiff

Plaintiff states that because her complaints involved harassisieatzan go
straight to the Chief, which sheddi andthat her “actions were consistent with the
department and City sexual harassment policies.” (Doat%245).

The policy states in pertinent part:

RUSSELLVILLE POLICE DEPARTMENT-
SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY
*k%k
. PURPOSE - To establish policy prohibiting Sexual
Harassment within théepartment.
*%k*

2.  While all forms of harassment are prohibited, it is
the Citys policy to emphasize that Sexual
Harassment is specifically prohibited. Each City
official has a responsibility to maintain the
workplacefree of any form of Sexual Harassment.

**k*

5. Any employee, male or female, who believes that
the actions or words of a City Official or supervisor
or fellow employee corgute unwelcome
harassment hasa responsibility to eport or
complain as soon as possible to his/her supervisor
or to the Qief of Policeif the complaint includes
the employe’ss supevisor.

(Doc. 3940). A plain reading of the policy at issue does not support Plaintiff's

interpretaion.
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Defendant respondsthat Plaintiffs complaints did not involve
complaints of a sexual nature and relies on the recording of her
conversation with Chief Hargett in support(Doc. 3Q Ex. H).?* 22
Plaintiff has notcorntestedthis evidence or cited any authoritfsputing
Defendant’s reason.

Furthermore, \Wwen asked if she went to see Chief Hargett to talk about
sexual harassment, Plaintiff testifijéiNo. | never said anything about sexual
harassment. | said that | went to the Chief of Police with my husband lehen
went to talk to the Chief, and also myself complained about harassment that | was
facing” (Doc. 281 at 40)* Plaintiff also agreedhat it would be a violation
if the policy only relate to harassment of a sexual natared not general
harassment (Id. at 42). Having reviewed thesvidence the Court finds that

Plaintiff has notshown that Defendant’s reason feuspendindier was a pretext

for retaliation. Accordingly, summary judgmei granted on this claim.

21 Defendant cites tblix v. WLCY Radio/Rahal Communicatipi88 F.2d 1181, 1187 (11th Cir.
1984), for the proposition that @mployer has “right to interpret its rules as it chooses, and to
make determinations as it sees fit under those rules.” (Doc. 53 at 12, n.8).

22 Therecoding of the meeting between Plaintiff and Mr. Gentry and Chief Hargett oenfir
that Plaintiff and Mr. Gentry confrontedhief Hargett about “harassment” by Sgt. Franks, with
no mention of anything of a sexual nature. (Doc. 30, Ex. H).

23 Plaintiff also testified “It was actually my husband that said he wanted to speak with [Chief
Hargett] about the harassment that SergBeamks had been doing over the weekend. | did not
call the meeting. | did answer a few questions when Chief Hargett asked meydéestbns.”
(Doc. 28-1at 36-37).
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6. Doctor’'s excuse

Plaintiff claims that “on March 31 Chief [Harge{refused] [her] doctor’'s
excuse” in retaliation for filing a charge of discrimination on March 24, 2016.
(Doc. 52at 40, 44). Defendant asserts that Plaintiff's claim is “unsupported by the
factual record presumablyargung that theaction never occurred (Doc. 53 &

12).

Plaintiff gave Chief Hargett doctors noterequesting that she be placed in
the office with day shift hourgDoc. 3943). Chief Hargett requested clarification
regarding the extent of her limitations. (Docs-2&t 35; Doc. 28 at 24, 39
42).** Plaintiff cites no evidencshowingthat Chief Hargett “refused” her doctor’s
note or suggesing that his request for clarification of her limitations was
retaliatory (Doc. 52at 40)?° Plaintiff fails to establistthat the alleged conduct
even occurred and, thus, cannot establish a materially adverse @atamrdingly,
sunmary judgmenis granted on this claim.

7. Donation of sick leave time

In connection with heMarch 24, 2016chargeof discrimination Plaintiff

asserts that on March 28, 2016, “no one from the police department is donating

24 In response to Chief Hargett's requégintiff's physician stated that Plaintifbuld not wear
her utility beltand could not be on the street because of the risk of an itguher abdomen
(Doc. 28-4 at 42).

> Chief Hargett testified that he requested the additional information to md&&e@mnation
aboutwhether the department could accommodgentiff. (Doc. 28-4at 39).
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time.” (Doc. 52at 44). Defendant asserts that Plaintiff cannot establish a prima
facie case because she has “zero evidence connecting [no donation of time] to any
retaliatory motive or action bthe City.” (Doc. 53 at 13). Defendant’s argument
focuses on Plaintiff’s lack of @ausal connection.

Plaintiff obtained approval from Chief Hargett request donations of sick
leave and theemailedofficers requesting donated leavéDoc. 3968; Doc. 281
at 87289). Shedid not receive any donations from employees at the.R(EDc.
281 at 8789)%° City Clerk Joe Hamilton testified thatck leave donation is
voluntary, and each employee makes the decision whether or not to donate sick
leave. (Doc. 28, 1 4). Plaintiff testified that she “assumed” someone from the
RPD directed employees not to donate leave, but @tes no evidence that
Defendantwas responsible for police officers not donatiegve (Doc.28-1 at
65-66).>” To the contraryChief Hargett testified that he “did not instruct any City
employee to not dwate sick leave t@Plaintiff]” and was not aware of any other
City employee directing another employee toadonate leave. (Doc. ZB { 8).

Plaintiff fails to establish @rima facie casbecause sheannot establish a

causal connection. Accordingly, summary judgmegranted on this claim.

2 plaintiff receivedresponses fronthree of the eight RPD employees she emailedThose
employees explaineithey could not donate time because they might need to ussitkeleave.
(Doc. 28-1 at 88-89).

2" plaintiff did receive donations of sick leave from the fire department where her husband
worked. (Doc. 28-1 at 63).
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8. Calculationof donatedsick leave

Plaintiff asserts thashe was retaliated against wh&she was only given
half of the hours donated to Her(Doc. 52at 40). Defendant argues that “she
presents no evidence to challenge the legitimate explanation regahding
calculation of her donated sick leave or any evidence that other employees
received more favorable treatment.” (Doc. 53 at 14). Thus, Defendartt #sse
Plaintiff cannot establish an adverse action, and even if she could, Defeadant
legitimate, nonretaliatory reason.

Plaintiff relies on a recording of Mr. Gentry talking t&€ity Councilman
Arthur Elliot as factualsupportfor her assertion.(Doc. 39-97). However, he
Court finds no support for her assertion in this recordifgty Clerk Hamilton,
who processed the sick leave donationsPfaintiff, explained thatsome donated
leave is processed as a deyday exchange while other donaigare processed as
a straight hourly exchangedepending on the length of the employee’s shift.
(Doc. 288, 1 5)?® City Clerk Hamilton processd sick leavethat was donated to
Plaintiff in this manner (Id., { 6. City Clerk Hamilton testified that he made the

same calculations he would make for other City employees and did not base his

28 Mr. Hamilton explained: fla firefighter works a 2our shift and donates sick leave to a
police officer who works a XRour shift, the police officer will receive half of the donated time
to match the police officer’s shift time. If an employee with dro8r shift donates sick leave to

an employee with a 1Bour shift, a straight hourly exchange is used becaimsiBand 1zhour

shift employees work about the same number of hours in a two week period.” (Doc. 28-8, { 5).
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calculations orPlaintiff's gender, pregnancy, or in retaliatibor any complaints
made by her.(Id., § 7).

Based on the evidence abowaintiff has failed to show that the way
donated sick leave was calculated for her amounted to an adverse action. Thus,
Plaintiff cannot establish a prima facie case. Accordingly, summary judgsent
granted on this claim.

9. Breastfeeding baks

Plaintiff argues that “she was written up for pump/breastfeeding breaks.”
(Doc. 52at40). Specifically, she claims that on “November 7, [she] tells them she
Is breastfeeding, then on December 12 and 27 she is being counseled about her
pump breaks.”(ld. at 49. In response, Defendant argues that “[tlhere is nothing
materially adverse about the written counseling here because all it did was explain
to [Plaintiff] how she should be handling her pumping breaks.” (Doc. 53 at 15).

On December 12, 2016, Sgt. Miller completed a “Written Diregtive
informing Plaintiff thatif she needed to take longer than her allotted-lone
break, theRPDwould accommodate her, but she needed to let her supervisor know
and make up the time at the end of her sh{fboc. 3955). Sgt. Miller also
remindedPlaintiff to go “out of service” and “in service” from her car radioenh
she went on break(ld.). No disciplinary actionwastakenagainst Plaintiff On

December 27, 2016Sgt. Miller completed a“Counseling Form,” reminding
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Plaintiff to add additional time to the end of her shifher breaks exceeded one
hour. (Doc. 3956)2° No disciplinary action was takéefl.

Plaintiff does noshowthat a materially adverse action occurred with respect
to the written directive and counseling and thus cannot establish a pcmadae
of retaliation. Assuming,arguendg that Plaintiff could stablish a prima facie
case Defendant has produceda legitimate norretaliatory reason for the
counselingi.e. that the RPDnustknow “whether Plaintiff] was available to take
calls while on patrgl. . . make sure necessary shifts were covered without
incurring too much overtime costsand be able to“[e]xpect] an employee to
work an entire shift (Doc. 53 at 15). Plaintiff has failed to show that
Defendant’s reasorewea pretext for retaliation.For the reasons discussed above,
summary judgmeris granted on this claim.

10. Docked payor Mr. Gentry's presence in dispatch room

Plaintiff assertsthaton June 18, 2016she was written up and docked 14
days’ pay because her husband came taé¢partment to bring her lunch.” (Doc.

52 at40; Doc. 3951). Defendant argues that Plaintiff cannot “overcome the City’s

29 Although urrelated to breaks, Sgt. Miller also noted that Plaittifél reported late for one
shift and left early from four shiftsyhich was “unacceptable” and further violations would
result in disciplinary action(Doc. 3956).

30 Chief Hargett testified that a written directive gives an employee specificdtistrsi and a

courseling form is used to make an employee aware of behavior that needs to change. -(Doc. 28
4 at29).
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showing that there was a legitimate reason for the June 18, 2016 distiphoe.
53 at 17). Defendant desnot address whethéHaintiff has established a prima
facie case. Accordingly, for purposes of this motion, the Court will assume that
Plaintiff has satisfied her burdeand will determine whether Defendant had a
legitimate, nonretaliatory reason to discipline Plaintiff

First, Chief Hargett had instructdélaintiff that Mr. Gentry could not come
to the police station, even to have lunch with her, after the incident with the.mayor
(Doc. 281 at 44 Doc. 283 at 36). Second, the dispatecbhom wherePlaintiff was
working that daycontainedcomputers with confidential information(Doc. 281
at 43 Doc. 283 at34-35)3' RPD mlicy required that the dispatch room be secure
to prevent unauthorized acceqsd.). Mr. Gentry did not have an official reason
to be in the dispatch roon{Doc. 281 at44; Doc. 283 at 350). Mr. Gentry’s visit
was personal-- to bring Plaintiff her lunch. (Doc. 28 at 44; Doc. 28 at 35).
Plaintiff's argument--- that because Mr. Gentry worked in dispatch for the fire
department, he was an “authorized perser’is unpersuasive. (Doc. 52 at 45).
Accordingly, Defendant has proffered a legitimate, retaliatory reason for

disciplining Plaintiff.

31 Plaintiff and Mr. Gentry testified that Plaintiffag offered the dispatch shift so she would not
have to use her sick leave. (Doc. 28t43; Doc. 283 at37).
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Plaintiff argues hat Defendant’s reason is a pretext for retaliatimtause
Mr. Gentry “was not in violation of policy as he was not in view of computard”
that “others were allowed to have their lunches brought to them while working
dispatch” (Doc. 52 at 45).This argument is without meras Plaintiff has failed
to show that other employees’ family members went in the dispatch room and were
not disciplined Plaintiff testified that she observed Patty Lumpkin’s husband and
father “[d]ropping off food” for Ms.Lumpkin when she was working in the
dispatch room. (Doc. 28 at 6768). However, there is no evidence that the
family members went inside the dispatch room.

Chief Hargettestified that he was not aware of employees’ family members
being inside the dispatch room. He stated that desbéan spouses “bring food up
there and stand out in the hallway at the window.” (Doe4 2827). There is no
evidence that Chief Hargettad not disciplined other employees for the same
violation committed by Mr. Gentry?. Plaintiff has failed to establish that
Defendant’s legitimate, noetaliatoryreason for disciplining her in this instance
was a pretext for retaliation.Accordingly, simmary judgments granted on this

claim.

32 Chief Hargett also disciplined Sgt. Josh Thompkins for not reporting Mr. Gepirgsence in
the dispatch room. (Doc. 28-4 at 26).
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11. Turning in sick leave donation forms

Plaintiff asserts that “she was written up . because hehusband did not
come to the department to turn[donation]forms.” (Doc.52 at 40). Defendant
argues that Plaintiff “was not disciplined or otherwise punished fofdilere to
follow instructions” (Doc. 53 at 17).

Cpt. Prince verbally toldPlaintiff to bring any sick leave donation forms to
him, which she did for three monthgDoc. 281 at 45 Doc. 3952). When the
forms were latedropped off at City HaJICpt. Prince prepared a counseling form,
reminding Plaintiffthat the formshould beturned into Chief Hargett(Doc. 39
52). Although Cpt.Prince noted that a recurrencgould result in disciplinary
action (id.), Plaintiff turned in leave donation forms to City Hall agaand Cpt.
Princepreparecanother counseling form(Doc. 282 at50). Cpt. Prince explained
on the form that "[tlurningn your Sick Leave form to us helps us ensure that you
are not short hours on your timeshedld.). Despite the previous warning,
Plaintiff was not disciplined. Iq.).

The two instances of counselirdp not constitute discipl@. Accordingly,
Plairtiff fails to show a materially adverse action in this instaarm thus cannot
establish a prima facie case

Even if Plaintiff somehow could establish a prima facie cd3efendant

asserts that it “had a legitimate, nonretaliatory reason for CaptaiteRvianting to
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receive the sick leave donation forms in order to keep traffRlantiff's] hours.”
(Doc. 53 at 1718). Plaintiff presents no evidendeat Defendant legitimate
norretaliatoryreason for counselinger about hesick leave formavas a pretext
for retaliation. Accordingly, summary judgment is granted on this claim.

12. Failure to promote

Even though Rintiff asserts that she was retaliated against when “she was
not promoted tdsergearnt (Doc. 52 at 40), shedevotes no discussion whatsoever
to this claim®® Accordingly, the Court considers this claim to be abandoned.
Smith v. Vestavia Hills Bd. of Edudlo. 16842, 2018 WL 1408537, at *17 (Mar.
21, 2018)(citing Brackin v. Anson585 F. App’x. 991, 994 (1atCir. 2014) (“The
parties bear the burden of formulating arguments before the district court, and
‘grounds alleged in the complaint but not relied upon in summary judgment are
deemed abandoned’ and will not be considered on appéal A3.such summary
judgment iggrantedwith respect to this claim

13. Termination/Resignation

Plaintiff assertsthat she was retaliated against when “she was involuntarily

terminated.” (Doc. 5at 40). Defendantargues thaPlaintiff cannot establish a

¥ Defendant asserts that Plaintiff never raised a lack of promotion claim dweirgeposition.
(Doc. 53 at 18).

34 Accordingly, he Courtdoesnot addres®efendant’s argument that Plaintiffd not exhaust
her administrative remedies. (Doc. 53 at 18).
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prima facie case of retaliation because she cannot show that she suffered a
materially adverse action since slauntarily resigned. (Doc. 58t19).

Plaintiff arguesthat her resignation was not voluntagnd relies on
Rodriguez v. City of DoraB63F.3d 1343 (11th Cir. 2010 support. (Doc. 52 at
52). In Rodgriguezthe Eleventh @cuit noted that aresignation is voluntary
unless the employee can establish that the resignatioflyvesced by coercion
or duresr (2) was obtained by deceiving or misrepresenting a material fect.
at 1352. Plaintiff relies on the first of these means to estalihisih her resignation
wasnot voluntary

In analyzing a claim of coercion or durgtiee Eleventh Circuihoted that it
must consider the “totality of the circumstances” aehtified a norexhaustive
list of five factors toguidethe analysis:

(1) whether the employee was given some alternative to resignation;

(2) whether the employee understood the nature of the cheiveas

given; (3) whether the employee was given a reasonable time in which

to choose; (4) whether the employee was permitted to select the

effective date of the resignation; and (5) whether the employee had
the advice of counsel.
Rodriguez863 F.3d atl352(citing Hargray v. City of Hallandale57 F.3d 1560,
1568 (11th Cir. 1999)
The RodriguezCourt noted that the first factdocuses on an analysis of

whether theemployee had anyreal alternative§ which is determinedby an

objective standardld. “[T] he other enumerated factors bear on the assessment of
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whether an alternative qualifies asreal alternative” Id. Even ifthe alternative

Is “‘comparativelyunpleasantto termination,”that does not necessarily mean that
the resignatioms not a “real alternativé Id.

The Eleventh Circuit has recognized that “resignations can be voluntary
even where the only alternative to resignation is facing possible termination for
cause. . . ” Id; see also Jones v Allstate Ins. Ca07 F. App'x.641, 646 (11th
Cir. 2017) étating that‘Plaintiff's decision to voluntarily resign in the face of a
possible termination is not a constructive discharge,” and thus, Plaintiff failed t
establish an adverse action as part of her retaliation claims brumadgttthe ADA,
FMLA, and Title VII). However, the “one exception to this rule is where the
employer actually lacked good cause to believe that grounds for the termination
existed.” Hargray, 57 F.3d at 1568.

The recordin this cag supports Defendant’s contention that Plaintiff was
provided with a real alternative tesignation and understood the nature of her
choices. As an initial matter, the Court notes that the record includes the audio
recording of the meeting between Chitdrgett and Plaintiff.(Doc. 3979). The
meeting lasted about 20 to 25 minutékl.). Chief Hargett started the meeting by
informing Plaintiff that she had violated the chaincommandagain and that he

had previously told her that a reoccurrence would result in disciplinary action.

(Id.). Chief Hargettthen told her that he was treatihgr like everyone else and
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giving her the oportunityto resign so she is “leaving on her own fregll” and
will not beterminated (Doc. 3979; Doc. 281 at57). Plaintiff respondedhat if
she hd a choice between resigning and being terminatlee would rather resign.
(Doc. 3979)3° Chief Hargettreiterated that he always tries to give people the
opportunity to resign because it looks better than a termination when they are
trying to get another job.Id.).

Plaintiff asked whether she should turn in a resignation letter that afternoon.
Chief Hargett responded thdhe resignation would be effective immediately.
(Doc. 3979). Plaintiff responded again that she wanted to write a letter, and Chief
Hargett told her that was fine “if that's what she wanted to dil)). (She asked if
she shouldype it and bring it back, and he said sbeld write it at the office"if
you want.” (d.). Parts of the recording are inaudible, but according to Plaintiff's
testimony, Chief Hargett told her that there was a computer in the room and that
she was “welcome to use the supervisor computdd.; [Doc. 281 at 58). Chief
Hargett did not stay in the room while Plaintiff wrote her resignation letter. (Doc.
281 at 61).

Based on the evidencé®laintiff had advance notice of her impending

termination. The day after ti@&ty Council meeting in which Plaintiff voiced her

% Several months later, Plaintiff testified that she appreciated the opportunigsitgm ras
opposed to being terminated and that she would still choose resignation over termination. (D
28-1 at 60-61).

35



complaints, she reported to workDoc. 281 at 55). But Chief Hargett sent her
home early, informing her that she was being “placed on administrative leave
based on [her] going to th@ouncil meeting.” (Id.) The next day, while Plaintiff

was in Birmingham with her father, the RPD called Plaintiff and told her to come
to the station to meet with Chief Hargett and to bring all of her equipment and
materials. Id. at 56). Plaintiff acknowledged that she “assume[d] since | had to
bring in all of my equipment, that | was being firedId.). Plaintiff had at least

two hours between the phone call and arriving at the statldn.*Y Plaintiff told

her father about the phone call and told him that she thought she was going to be
terminated. 1@.). Plaintiff could have called her counsel during this time but did

3" When asked whether slveas considering trying to resign before being

not
terminated, Plaintiff testified that she “went into the meeting just with an open
mind . . . figuring [she] was being fired, but [] wasn't 100 percent.” (Dod a8

56). Clearly, Plaintiff had some knowledge of what was about to hapmEsome

time to contemplate the situatioikee Hirgray, 57 F.3d at 1569 (recognizing that

the plaintiff had advance notice thie charges against him).

% plaintiff testified that she had to deifrom Birmingham to Russellville, drayf her father, go
home to get her equipment, and then go to the staf{idac. 28-1 at 56).

37 Defendant points out that Plaintiff wadreadyrepresented by counselith respect to ér
EEOC and lawsuit filingaindthather counsel is located Birmingham whee Plaintiff was at
the time sheeceived the phone cdliom the RPD. (Doc. 50 at 34; Doc. 53 at 19).
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While it is true thaPlaintiff was not permitted to select the effective date of
resignationand did nothave the advice of counsel during the meeting, the
circumstances under which Plaintiff signed her resignation were not codroeve.
recording indicates that the tone and environment of the meetingela®d
Plaintiff implies that somehow pressuresiexerted becausgt]hey even heldhe
baby while she typed [her resignation] up on their computer.” (Doc. 52 at 52).
However, the recording reveals friendly conversation between Plaintifiemch
worker about the baby while Plaintiff typed her resignation. (Doe7939
Furthermore, Plaintiff testified that there was nothing coercive or threateniag abo
the situation. (Doc. 2& at 5960). See Hargray57 F.3d at 1570 (transcript
revealed that “interview was conducted under a casual atmosplueirey which
[Plaintiff] at times even laughed with the police”).

The Hargray Court also recognizé that “cases finding a resignation to be
involuntary based on coercion or duress involve circumstances much more
coercive than those in the instant caselargray, 57 F.3d at 1570.Those cases
involved situations in which the employee’s repeated requests for additional time
and to speak to counselere ignoredthe employee was not informed of the
charges or grounds for terminatj@ndthreateningactics were usedThe facts in
Rodriguezare also inapposite to the facts in the instant case.Rauriguez the

employer refused to tell the plaintiff why he was being firda plaintiff only

37



learned of his termination at the moment he received his letter of termination, the
employer refused to give him a reason for his termination, the planaitfffive
minutes to agree to submit his resignation, and the resignation letter was written by
the employer, not the plaintiff863 F.3d at 135343 In the instant case, Plaintiff
did not ask for additional time, didot request to speak to counskhew the
grounds for herermination, and wrote her own resignation lett@oc. 3979).

Finally, Defendanthad good cause to believe it had groutw$erminate
Plaintiff. Defendanttold Plaintiff shehad violated the chain of commaadain
Rather than speak to Chief Hargett about the temporary schedule change to night
shift (which had noyet been implementedlPlaintiff decided tagoto City Council
without telling anyone ahe RPD. (Doc. 281 at 46, 52).Plaintiff alsomisled the
City Council to believe she had been required undertakethe assignment
guarding the inmate at Huntsville Hospigahich did not occur (Doc. 281 at 47
48; Doc.28-4 at 30, 32, 34; Doc. 28 at 4). Thus,this case does not fall into the
“one exception to this rule [] where the employer actually lacked good cause to
believe that grounds for the termination. existed.”Hargray, 57 F.3d at 1568.

Based on the evidendea this caseand authority discusseabove, the Court

finds that Plaintiff has not overcome the presumption that her resignation was

% The court ultimately found a coercive atmosphere existed, and thus, the plaiesiffisation
was not voluntaryRodriguez863 F.3d at 1354.
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voluntary. Plaintiff fails to prove an adverse action, necessary to establish a prima
facie case Accordingly, the Court grants summary judgmentrosclaim.

B. Gender Discrimination Claims

Plaintiff assertsclaims of gender discriminatiaomder Title VII and Section
1983 Discrimination claims unddyoth statutesre analyzed under the salegal
framework. Quigg v. Thomas Cty. Sch. Djs814 F.3d 1227, 1235 (11th Cir.
2016). Discrimination claims can be established based on direct or circumstantial
evidence.Id. Plaintiff has not produced direetvidence of gender discrimination,
relying instead on circumstantial evidencelhus, Defendants assert that the
burdenshifting analysis set forth iMcDonnell Douglas411 U.S. aB03 applies
to Plaintiff's claims.

Plaintiff, on the other han@ygues that she does not have to adhere to a strict
McDonnell Douglas framework and that the “appropriate framework for
examining mixed motive claims” is the standard set fortkQungg, 814 F.3d at
123233. (Doc. 52at 46). Under Quigg, a plaintiff need onlyoffer “ evidence
sufficient to convince a jury that: (1) the defendant took an adverse employment
action against the plaintiff, and (2) [a protected characteristiclamastivating
factor for the defendarst adverse employment actiinld. at 1239 (citation
omitted). “In other words, the court must determine whetherghaintiff has

presented sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to conclude, by a preponderance
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of the evidence, that [her protected characteristic] was a motivating fac{an]
adverse employment decisitn.ld.

Defendantargues thaPlaintiff asserts a mixethotive theory for the first
time in her summary judgment response, in contrast withcbhemplaintsand
overall argument which focus on a singhetive theory. (Doc. 53at 21). The
Eleventh Circuit held that “a plaintiff should not be required to labetbeplaint
‘as either a ‘pretext’ case or a ‘mixed motives’ case . ‘because ‘[d]iscovery
often will be necessary before the plaintiff can know whether both legitimate and
illegitimate considerations played a part in the decision against h&abb v.
Sec¢y. Dept of Veterans Affairs743 F. App’x 280, 28@&7 (11th Cir. 2018)
(citations omitted). The Babb Court held that the plaintiffsufficiently raised her
mixed-motive theory . . . by arguing it in response to the [defendant’s] summary
judgment motion.” Id. at 287. Accordingly, theCourt apples the Quigg mixed
motive frameworkto Plaintiff's discrimination claimsof demotion, disparate
treatment, andonstructive discharge

1. Demotion

Plaintiff alleges a discriminatory demotion on the basis of gemder
violation of Title VII (Doc. 1 § 16, No. 3:1&v-01466). Defendant does not

dispute thaPlaintiff's demotion constitutean adverse employmeattion
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The Court turns to the second factor. To show gender was a motivating
factor, Plaintiff arguesthat “Chief [Hargett] and[Cpt.] Prince told[her] in the
beginning they were going to do thing [sic] difatly with her,” requiring her to
go through trainingand telling her “it's not because you are female.” (Doc. 52
at 47 Doc. 281 at 29, 74; Doc. 397, part 2 recording)Although Raintiff agrees
that there should be a training program for new supervisors and officers, she
objects to being the first officer to go through supervisor training. (Dogd. &8
24). She complains that no sergeants before her were subject to the same
supervisor training The facts show thahe RPD previously did not require either
men or women to undergo a training progrankurthermore,that group of
sergeantswho did not go through trainingvere not all male; the groupaluded a
female sergeant, hila Michaels. (Doc. 28 at 7)*° Thus, it was not only males
who were spared the training program.

Furthermore,Chief Hargett and Cpt. Princexplainedthat the training
programwas being implemented foall officers and that someone had to be the

first officer to go through the program. (Doc. 53 at223 Doc. 3917, part 2

recording). Chief Hargett and Cpt. Prince stated that although she was the first, it

¥ Ms. Michaelswvas promoted tgergeanprior to Chief Hargett'iring at the RPD, and served
as sergeant for approximately ten yeélboc. 28-4 at 7).

41



had nothing to do with her being female, or white, or because she had red hair.
(1d.).

Plaintiff also argues that Defendant “backdated the [training] policy to
appear it was in effect before her demotion, then removed the day when pgoducin
it in this lawsuit so Plaintiff] would not be able to establish it was enacted after
her demotion.” (Doc. 52 at 5051). Cpt. Prince testified that he did not backdate
the policy, the department had been working on the policy for some time, and the
policy was published for employees to see on October 29, 2015. (Dbat2B3
19). The RPD implementethe training program “to compensate for the relative
inexperience of officers, includingPlaintiff], who would hold supervisory
positions.” (Doc. 53 at 23; Doc. 3%, part 2 recording).The parties do not
dispute thathe RPD requiredevery officer pomoted to sergeant since [Plaintiff]

. . .to successfully complete the program.” (Doc. 50 at 8, { 14; Doc. 52 at 6, | 14).
These officers included males and a femal2oc( 50 at 8, | 14; Doc. 52 at 6, §} 14
Doc. 281 at 30). Plaintiff agreed that tether the new supervisor training policy
was officially published or not, failing to successfully complete the traininddvou

be a valid reason to demote her. (Doc-128t 31). Accordinky, Plaintiff's
conclusory arguments, without more, are without merit.

Plaintiff alsoargues that because her last evaluation prior to her promotion

to sergeant was “glowing and contradicted everything in the field training
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evaluations,” she was “qualified for the posit” (Doc. 52 at 48) However, @en
if Plaintiff's evaluation as a patrol officer was “glowing,” it is irrelevant in
determining her performance as a sergeant. The field training ewuakiati
measured her abilities as a sergeant, and these evaluations reflected Plaintiff's
failure to exhibit command presence and control situations, difficulty organizing
officers and distributing calls, unfamiliarity with policies and procedures,
sleeping on duty, and insubordinatio(Doc. 281 at 1920, 12026). The Court
has already addressed above the issue of sleeping in a patrol car while on duty. As
for insubordination, Plaintiff merely responds that “[s]he was criticited
explaining her actions and trying to engage with her superiors.” (Doc. 52 at 50).
Shealso asserts that Defendant did not sit down with her daily and give her the
opportunity to correct criticisms. Id)). However, Chief Hargett made clear to
Plaintiff during their meeting that he had instructed the field training officers to
review Plaintiff's performance with her at the end of each .shidoc. 3920).
Plaintiff has either admitted some of her deficiencies or failed in large part to
dispute the shortcomings reflected in her evaluaftdns.

Finally, whenPlaintiff wasasked “having you go through that training had

nothing to do with you gender, correct?”Plaintiff replied, “No.” (Id.).

0 Although Plaintiffargues that she had just as many ye&mxperience a$gts.Miller and
Franks shefails to establish that SgtMliller and Frankshad similar issues in their evaluations
as sergeants(Doc. 52 at 48).
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Accordingly, Plaintifffails to showby a preponderance of the evidertbat her
gender was a motivating factor in the decision to demote faus, he Court
grants summary judgment &aintiff's demotion claim.

2. Disparatelreatment

Plaintiff alleges disparate treatment in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. (Doc.
1, 19 15963, No. 3:17cv-01127). Specifically, she argues that she received
discriminatory assignments and discipline. (Docat®3).

Regarding discriminatory assignments, Plaintiff asserts that the RPD
scheduled heto guard an inmate overnight Huntville (id.) and shedid “not
hayie] the option o the accommodation of hoyghe] was supposed to express
milk or have[her] child brought up tdher] to the hospital without being kbto
turn [her] back on the suspect.”(Doc. 281 at 47). Defendant however,
reassigned Plaintiffo a night shift inRussellville (1d.).** Accordingly, Plaintiff
fails to showthat theactioneven occurred

Plaintiff assertsthat herreassigment to a night shiftin Russellvillewas

discriminatory because a “rookie male was assigned to day stifc. 52at49).

1 plaintiff complains that she was “forced to haggle with her supervisors for several haugs tryi

to resolve the breastfeeding isSuéDoc. 52at49). However, Plaintiff agreed that the situation,
resulting from a shooting in Russellville, wassusual. (Doc. 28 at47). Plaintiff complains
thatshe was working the 6:00 am to 6:00 pm shift when the decision was made to reassign her to
night shift (Doc. 52 at 49). Even though she went home at 10:0€hatday, she complains

that she had very little time in between her day shift and night shift, which violateg. ptdi.).

Plaintiff does not refer to the policy at issue and does not explain how thigmezesst to night

shift differed from her original assignment to guard the inmate “overnigd.). (
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Claims involvingreassignmergstare “especially important” becausemost cases,
“an employee alleging a change in work assignments, without any tangible harm,
will be outside the protection provided by Title VII's adtscrimination clause.”
Hall v. Dekalb Cty. Gov't,503 F. App’x 781, 787 (th Cir. 2013) (citation
omitted) The Court does not “sit as a ‘sugsersonnel department,” and it is not
[the Court’s] role to secondguess the wisdom of [the defendant’s] business
decisions—indeed the wisdom of them is irrelevards long as those decisions
were not made with a discriminatory motiveAlvarezv. Royal Atl. Developers,
610 F.3d1253, 266 (11th Cir. 2010)quotingChapman v. A1 Transp229 F.3d
1012, 1030 (11th Cir. 2000) (en banc)).

Cpt. Prince explained télaintiff that the reassignment to night shift was
temporary untilnew supervisors gained more experience. (Doc. 30, Ex. L,
recording). Male officers were also reassigned to night shifts). Cpt. Prince
also explainedo Plaintiff that sheand Officer Josh Thompkins could not be on the
same shift because they both had the most disciplinary probl¢idy. It is
undisputed thaPlaintiff left the RPD before the temporary reassignmeuwtually
took effect. Based on this evidence, not ordges Plaintiff fail to establishn
adverse actignshe also cannot show that gender motivated the RPD to lace
on the night shift. AccordinglyPlaintiff's claim of disparate treatment in this

instance is without merit.
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As for discriminatory disciine, Plaintiff argues that “[s]he was docked pay
for sleeping on the job. Everyone slept on the job. There is no evidence of anyone
else being written up for sleeping on the job.” (Doc.a531). She also argues
that “[s]he was docked pay and terminated for violating the chain of command
when clearly she did not violations [sic] of the chain of command as her
complaints of discrimination were governed by a different poli¢id”).

The Court discussed both of these allegations ahowder Plaintiff's
retaliation claim, using the burdershifting framework ofMcDonnell Douglas
Under a mixeemotive theory, Plaintiff has met her burden of establishing an
adverse employment action as she suffaeldss in pay with respect to both
disciplinary actions.

However, Plaintiff’'s assertion that everyone slept on the job but was not
disciplined is inaccurate. Plaintiff identified one officer, Lt. Sh#oke, who was
asleep at his desk, but she provides no evidence that Chief Hargett was aware of
the incident and failed to disciplin@im.  Furthermore, Plaintiff fails to
acknowledge that Lt. Shackelford was in the police station and not intho$ qear
at the time of the incidentSee infra at 20-21. As to the second allegation of
discipline,Plaintiff's assertion that her complaints were governed by a “different”

policy --- and therefore she did not violate the chain of commandis simply
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erroneous. Seesuprg at 21-23. Accordingly, Plaintiff cannot show that her
gendemwasamotivating factoin Defendant’s decision to discipline her.

Plaintiff also raises the issue of being “treated different from similarly [sic]
males who had been promoted.” (Doc. 52 at 47). This different treatmkrtes
not being “moved from patrol to Sergeant in the system,” being placed on a one
year probation instead of six monfisand not being given a GPS and access to
log in to correct reporis(ld. at 50). She also asserts that slaes wot allowed to
take extra breaks for a drink or snackive her children in her police vehigle
permit herhusbando bringher food in dispatchand “given the full hours as male
officers weré€. (ld. at 48).

Some of these incidents have been adwesabove. As to the other
incidents, Plaintiff has not shown thathey rise to the level of an adverse
employment action,e., “a serious and material change in the terms, conditions, or
privileges of employment."Howard, 605 F.3d at 1245 (citatiommitted). Finally,
this evidence, even accepted taue, simply does not amount taufficient
evidence for a reasonable jury to conclude, by a preponderance of the evidence,
that [gender] was a motivating factoiQgigg, 814 F.3d at 1239)n Defendant’s
decision to demote heAccordingly, the Court grants summary judgment on these

claims.

2 Plaintiff was demotedfter three months. (Doc. 3922
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3. Constructive Discharge

Plaintiff alleges a discriminatory discharge claim in violation of Title VII.
(Doc. 1 91 14651, No. 3:17cv-1127. As noted above under the Court’s
discussion of retaliationPlaintiff cannot establish that she suffered an adverse
employment action because sheluntarily resigned from her position.
Accordingly, summary judgment is granted on this claim.

4, Hostile Work Environment

Plaintiff alleges a hostile work environment claim on the basis of gender
discrimination under Title VIl and 42 U.S.C. 8§ 198®oc. 1 § 15, No. 3:16cv-
1466; Doc.1, 11 16469, No. 3:17cv-1127). To establish a hostile wor
environment claimPlaintiff must show: (1) that she belongs to a protected group;
(2) that she was subjected to unwelcome harassment; (3) that the harassment was
based on hegendey (4) that the harassment was severe or pervasive enough to
alter the terms and conditions of her employment and create a hostile or abusive
working environment; and (5) that the employer is liablenes v. UPS Ground
Freight, 683 F.3d 1283, 1292 (11@ir. 2012)"

A violation occurswhen “the workplace is permeated with ‘discriminatory

intimidation, ridicule, and insult’ that is ‘sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter

*3In Cross v. State of AlaState Dejp. of Mental Health &Mental Retarddbn, the Eleventh
Circuit noted that “[w]hen section 1983 is used as a parallel remedy for violation of section 703
of Title VII, the elements of the two causes of action are the sadt®F.3d 1490, 1508 (11th

Cir. 1995) (citations omittedjee alsdVatkins v. Bowderl05 F.3d 1344, 1355 (11th Cir. 1997)
(addressing elements of a hostile work environment claim under the Equal Bro@atise).
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the conditions of the victim’s employment and create an abusive working
environmemn’™ Harris v. Forklift Sys., Ing.510 U.S. 17, 21 (1993) (citations
omitted). In evaluating the sufficiency of the severe or pervasive aspect of the
conduct, the Court must consider subjective and objective compondatsdoza
v. Borden, Ing. 195 F.3d1238, 1246 (11th Cir. 1999). Four factors should be
considered in analyzing whether the conduct objectively altered the conditions of
the employee’s employment:
(1) the frequency of the conduct; (2) the severity of the conduct; (3)
whether the conduct iphysically threatening or humiliating, or a
mere offensive utterance; and (4) whether the conduct unreasonably
interferes with the employee's job performance.
Id. Furthermore, “courts should examine the conduct in context, not as isolated
acts, and determine under the totality of the circumstances whether the harassing
conduct is sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the terms or condiidhe
plaintiff's employment and create a hostile or abusive working environmkht.”
Plaintiff devotes over two pagés the legal standardnd case lavo apply
to her hostile work environment claimsdowever, se states in a single sentence
that “[tlhe de&éndant’s conduct argued in Subsections I, Il, 1l and IV was so
severe and pervasive it materially alteredr[job.” (Doc. 52at56). The totality
of the conduct identified byPlaintiff and discussed aboweas not sufficiently

severe or pervasive enough to alter her employment and create a hodtilsioe a

workplace. See McQueen. Ala. Dep’t. of Transp.No. 1713405,2019 WL
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1773270 at *4 (11th Cir. Apr. 23, 2019)finding that the “mistreatment
considerd cumulatively was too sporadic and isolated to be considered
pervasivé). Also, there are no allegations of sexual harassment, and none of the
conduct she complains about was physically threatening or humiliating or
unreasonably interfering with her jgerformance. Plaintiff hasfailed to creata
genuine issue of material fact with regard to her hostile work envirorcizemt

C. Fair Labor Standards Act Claim

Plaintiff alleges thatDefendantviolated her rights under the Fair Labor
Standards Ac{FLSA) with respect to expressing milk and breastfeediipc(
1, 1 15258 No. 3:17cv-011273. The H.SA states in pertinent pathat
employers shall provide
(A) a reasonable break time for an emploteexpress breast milk for
her nursing childfor 1 year after the child birth each time such
employee has need to express the milk; and
(B) a place, other than a bathroom, that is shielded from view and free
from intrusion from coworkers and the public, which may be used by
an employee to express breast milk.
29 U.S.C. § 207(r)(1)
Plaintiff argues that she was not provided a private room to expreast
milk and had to go home. (Doc. 8253-54). Defendantasserts that it did provide

Plaintiff with a private roomthe break room. (Do&3at4). Plaintiff does not

dispute the fact that the break room had a door that could be locked from the inside
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(Doc. 281 at50; Doc. 285 at 20). Plaintiff argues that the room was not private
because Chief Hargett arigpt. Price had a keyo the break room (Doc. 52 at
53)* Plaintiff does not cite any authorifipr the propositionthat supervisors
having keys to th@rovided place violates 29 U.S.C. § 207(r)(The Court finds
thatthe Chief andCaptairis possession of keys to the break room doewiotdte
Section 207(r)(1)(B).

Plaintiff acknowledgeghat $1e hadthe optionto go home to express breast
milk. (Doc. 281 at 50-51). Plaintiff testified that she took two to three breaks
during each shift.I¢. at 50) Because her breaks exceeded 60 minutes, which was
her total allotted break time, she was counseled and required to make up any
excessive time at the end of her shifDoc. 281 at 82, 96; Doc. 28 at 2122;

Doc. 3955; Doc. 3956)* Plaintiff has not shown that her break time to express

milk was unreasonable under the FLSAccordingly, the Court finds that there is

* plaintiff assertghat the break room “was cleaned by inmates.” (Docat®3). She does not
explain fow this disrupts the privacy of the break room since the break room had atdobr
could be locked from the inside. (Doc. 2&t15Q Doc. 28-5at 20.

> Plaintiff asserts thatounsehg and write ug for breaks exceeding 60 minutesre used in
disciplinary decisions, including her termination. (Doc.&34). Even if true, Plaintiff has not
shown how this is a “compensable loss” under the FLSAeHicksv. City of Tuscaloosa\o.
13-020632015 WL 6123209at*29 (N.D. Ala. Oct. 19, 2015) (granting summary judgment on
FLSA claim for lo$ pay and constructive dischargaated tonursing breakd®ecause plaintiff
was unable to show that this was a “compensable loss” under the FLSA).
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no genuine issue of material faas to Plaintiff's FLSA claim, and summary
judgment is due to be grant&d.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the GBRANTS Defendant’s motion
for summary judgmenwith respect to Plaintiff'sTitle VII retaliation claims.The
Court GRANTS Defendant'smotion with respect tdPlaintiff's Title VII and
Section 1983 gendatiscrimination claims The CourtGRANTS Defendant’'s
motionwith respect t&’laintiff's FLSA claim.

DONE andORDERED August 29, 2019

/ Z(_,
LICESC. BURKE

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

¢ Because the Court finds thRlaintiff has not established a genuine issue of material fact as to
being offered a place and reasonable time to express breast milk, the Court need set addre
Defendant’'s argument thdthe FLSA does not provide a private right of action under the
circumstances asserted[Rlaintiff's] complaint.” (Doc. 53t 4). SeeMiller v. Roche Sur&
Cas.Co., Inc, 502 F. App’x 891, 893 (11th Cir. 201PB]ecause [defendant] did not violate
[section 207(r)(1)], we need not decide the issue of damages.”
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